COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2013 OCT -9 PM 2: 49

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUTY

Court of Appeals No. 44284-1811

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL HOBBS,
Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, STATE AUDITOR's OFFICE, Respondent.

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Lisa Sutton

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher W. Bawn, WSBA #13417 1700 Cooper Pt. Rd. SW, #A-3 Olympia, WA 98502 voice: (360) 357-8907 cwbawn@justwashington.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Appellant assigns error to the Trial Court's letter opinion and three orders as follows:

- #1. FIRST ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR: Error is assigned to the "Court's Decision": (dated 2/29/2012, filed 3/1/2012, CP. 172). The decision letter erroneously concludes the Plaintiff had no cause of action under RCW 42.56 for the agency's erroneous redactions and use of a "generic" exemption list in its December 21, 2011 initial disclosure of records. (See page 3 of letter opinion, referring to the "generic" exemption list.) The letter's findings and conclusions were set out in a separate order, which is the subject of the second assignment of error.
- #2. SECOND ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR: Error is assigned to the following findings and conclusions expressed in the court's order, dated 3/30/2012. CP. 185-190. Error is assigned to the following enumerated "findings" in the 3/30/2012 order: findings #2, #3, #5, #6, #9, #10, #11, #12, #13, and #14 and to the following "conclusions" in the 3/30/2012 order: conclusions #1, #2, and #3.

In lieu of retyping each finding and conclusion, the text is attached in the APPENDIX and the errors are laid out in the <u>issues</u> pertaining to the assignments of error section of the brief.

- #3. THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR: Error is assigned to the following "findings" in the 2/15/2012 order, CP. 138-140. Error is assigned to the "findings" in the 2/15/2012 order: #2 and #3, and the only conclusion of the order. In lieu of retyping each finding and the conclusion, the text is attached in the APPENDIX and the issues are laid out in the issues pertaining to assignment of error section of the brief.
- #4. FOURTH ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR: Error is assigned to the following findings in the 11/9/2012 "FINAL ORDER," CP. 1360-1375. Error is assigned to the "findings" in the 11/9/2012 order: #6, 7, 8, 9, 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21 and to the following "conclusions" in the 11/9/2012 order: conclusion #1 and #4, #5, #6, #7, #8, #9, #10, .#14, #15, #16, #17, #18, #20, #21, #22, #23, #24, #25; #26; #27; #28; #29, #30, #31, #32 as well as the conclusive order item #1 (denying relief "because the State Auditor did not violate the Public Records Act").

- #5. FIFTH ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR: The trial court erred in ignoring the violations of RCW 42.56 when the State disclosed, on December 21, 2011, a heavily-redacted ".pdf" file, which included redactions of materials that were not subject to any exemption; a failure to cite any exemption for some of the redacted material; and the provision of a "generic" redaction list created a year before the public records request, rather than a redaction log specific to each redaction.
- #6. SIXTH ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR: The trial court erred in allowing the State two "free" do-overs of the December 21, 2011 disclosure for failing to identify any exemptions in several places where information was redacted, failure to provide an exemption log, and most importantly, erroneously redacting public information from the December 21 initial disclosure and the December 30 do-over, until the court expressly noted the fact that the agency had redacted public information which was ultimately disclosed in the February 27, 2012 do-over.
- **#7. SEVENTH ASSIGNMENT OF ERORR:** The trial court erred in refusing to find a violation of the Public Records Act when

the State failed to disclose the metadata of the 17 Microsoft Word versions of a document; instead, <u>again</u> granting the agency a free do-over.

#8. EIGHTH ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR: The trial court erred in refusing to find a violation of the Public Records Act, when the State closed the request, but failed to disclose numerous public records that had been requested.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Erroneous Redaction, Failure to Cite Exemptions and failure to Provide Exemption Log. Does RCW 42.56 permit an agency to avoid liability if the agency waits until after litigation has commenced to disclose erroneously redacted records, and to provide an exemption log rather than a "generic" list of potential exemptions applicable to the redacted records? In other words, is RCW 42.56 violated when an agency issues its first installment of redacted records on December 21, 2013, without claiming any exemptions for some of the redactions, receives a lawsuit over the non-disclosure and failure to claim exemptions, and the agency

subsequently issues two "updates" – the first to address the missing exemption claims, and the second to address records that should not have been redacted?

- 2. Sanders v. State Dicta: Did the trial court misapply dicta in the Supreme Court decision in Sanders v. State of Washington, 169 Wn.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010) as a basis for granting an agency two free do-overs to remove redactions (disclosing public information that was previously withheld) and a second and third chance to provide untimely, previously missing explanations for exemptions that were claimed?
- 3. **Non-Disclosure of Metadata:** Did the trial court err in refusing to find any liability for failure to disclose requested metadata, when the agency admitted the error, by permitting an agency to correct the non-disclosure during litigation?
- 4. Failure to Estimate Date for Completing Disclosure.

 Whether an estimated date for completing disclosure could be withheld until six weeks after the request was submitted.

- 5. Exclusion of Specific Undisclosed Records. Whether a request for all public portions of all public records from a specific State Auditor's whistleblower investigation, with numerous examples given, does not require disclosure of records that the State Auditor did not "perceive" as responsive to the request, including backups, tapes, invoices to the DSHS for the investigation, employee calendars and calendar entries, files tabs, and investigator timekeeping data,
- 6. Failure to search or disclose backups and other electronic records. Whether a written request for records contained in "backups" did not require any effort to locate or disclose public records contained on "disaster recovery tapes for backups" where the backups are allegedly not easy to search.

The following issues relate to assigned errors to the trial court's findings and conclusions. These issues are subsumed by the previous six major issue categories, but are laid out here to conform to the assignment of error to the all of the challenged findings and conclusions of the trial court in three separate orders and a "decision" letter.

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Finding #2 that agencies should be allowed to post-litigation "satisfaction" of RCW 42.56, by disclosing previously-redacted public information, correcting a "generic" statutory exemption list and adding missing references to exemptions; and in finding that the agency "satisfied" RCW 42.56.210(3) when its non-compliant disclosures on December 21, 2011, were thereafter corrected with replacement disclosures on December 30, 2011, and February 27, 2012?

Whether the trial court erred in Finding #3 that an agency avoids liability if it "rediscloses" previously erroneously-redacted records, by redacting "less material"?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Finding #5 that it is not a violation of RCW 42.56 to correct a prior disclosure that referred to a generic list of statutory exemptions (and to correct some redactions that were missing references to any exemptions)?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Finding #6 by extending dicta in <u>Sanders v. State</u>, supra, to conclude that it was not a violation of the PRA if an agency makes an erroneous disclosure, but decides during litigation "to provide exemption codes and brief explanations of its exemption codes" and "providing additional undredacted text on Pages 27, 40, 137 and 138 in its February 2012 production.")?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Finding #10 that it is not a "denial" of a public record if an agency subsequently discloses erroneously-redacted records?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Finding #11 that agencies would be "deterred" from disclosing public records if the agency is not allowed an opportunity during litigation to correct "failed" redactions and missing claims of exemption.?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Finding #12 that removals of redactions during litigation complies with the agency's duties under the Public Records Act?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Finding #13 that the public-disclosure of a generic list of statutes, followed by a post-litigation use of "codes" that point to a new list of statutes and explanations satisfies RCW 42.56?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Finding #14 that the post-lawsuit corrections to the errors in the first installment complied with the requirements of RCW 42.56.)?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Conclusion of Law #1 that an agency can "comply with the public records act" if, after litigation, it corrects erroneously-redacted records and "updates" its redactions to disclose information it previously withheld?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Conclusion of Law #2 that an agency can "satisfy" RCW 42.56, after it erroneously redacts records and fails to cite valid exemptions, and litigation ensues, if it subsequently issues "codes" from a generic list of statutory exemptions?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 3/30/2012, Conclusion #3 that the Plaintiff "has no cause of action" pertaining to the December 21, 2011 production of erroneously redacted records in the 351-page ".pdf" file, since some missing exemption information was provided on December 30, 2011, and some of the erroneously-redacted records were provided in February 2012?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 2/15/2012, FINDING #2, that the post-litigation disclosure of code numbers on December 30, 2011, to go with the redacted materials that were publicly disclosed on December 21, 2011, satisfied the original requirement of RCW 42.56.210(3) for a "brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the records withheld."?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 2/15/2012, FINDING #3 in finding that the agency "satisfied" RCW 42.56.210(3) when its non-compliant disclosures on December 21, 2011, were thereafter corrected with replacement disclosures together with a list of exemption codes on December 30, 2011?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, Findings #6, 7, 8, 9, that because of the quantity of records, the agreement to consult with another agency, and the fact that the agency "exercised care in the redaction of confidential information about foster children" and such actions were "reasonable"—the state could defer providing a reasonable estimate of the date the records would be disclosed to the Plaintiff until six weeks after the initial request (from November 28. 2011 (the date the request was received) until January 6, 2012 (the date the estimate was provided)?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, FINDING #13, that the failure to disclose the metadata in seventeen "closing letters" on December 21, 2011, could be "updated" after the lawsuit with seventeen closing letters with the original metadata intact on February 27, 2012. CP. 1360

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, finding #15, in rejecting expert testimony about the destroyed/missing metadata in the December 21, 2011 disclosure, because the agency subsequently corrected the error by producing the "original" metadata in February 2012?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, FINDING #16.by concluding that there was "no evidence" that handwritten notes, drafts, or electronic files or folders responsive to the request were destroyed?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, finding #17, that the "plain language of [the Plaintiff's public records request]" does not request a search for disaster plans for backups, tapes, invoice vouchers, employee calendars and calendar entries,

files tabs, or timekeeping data – so those records were not subject to public disclosure."?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012 in Finding #18 that the agency did not interpret the term "correspondence" to mean invoice vouchers – so those records were not subject to public disclosure?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, in finding #19, that the agency "could not and did not know" that the Plaintiff was asking for disaster recovery tapes, invoice vouchers, employee calendars and calendar entries, tabs, and timekeeping data... until the Plaintiff clarified in his deposition that his request included a search of disaster recovery tapes, invoice vouchers, employee calendars and calendar entries, tabs and timekeeping data — and that those public records were therefore not subject to public disclosure?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, finding #20 that disaster recovery tapes of the Washington State Auditor are kept for disaster recovery purposes only, not other business purposes, and that the content of the tapes is not searchable in the ordinary manner — and therefore not subject to public disclosure?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, finding #21, that three months was a "short time" to produce 300 emails, and 2,300 pages of records?

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, conclusion #1 that the agency met its burden of proof "as to each of the issues raised by [the Appellant?"

Whether the trial court erred in the order dated 11/9/2012, in conclusion #2, that RCW 42.56.520 does not require an agency to provide a reasonable estimate of the completion date of a public records request, and in rejecting that interpretation of the statute that appears in the model rule WAC 44-14-04003?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

THE PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST. On November 28, 2011. the Appellant Mike Hobbs (HOBBS), through an attorney, submitted a written public records request to the Washington State Auditor. CP. 105, CP. 1362. The request itself asked for all records from September 1, 2010 through November 28, 2011, involving investigations, audits, whistleblower complaints involving the DSHS, and all underlying data and files associated with all communications by any State Auditor employee or agent and the Secretary of the DSHS from November 1, 2011 to November 28. 2011. CP. 105. The request was specifically narrowed to "all records related to any whistleblower complaint or other investigation involving SSI Dedicated Accounts, although the words "SSI Dedicated Accounts" may not appear on the record. CP. 105. The request included a request to "please preserve ELECTRONIC and NON-ELECTRONIC RECORDS" and "the request includes a request to inspect the actual electronic records, including all backup copies and prior versions, and including all metadata contained therein, in their electronic form." CP. 105. The request offers examples of electronic records, such as "voice mails" or

"other electronic audio formats" or "notes contained in Outlook" or "other custom formats" or "Word" or "Excel" or "Powerpoint" ... "without the metadata destroyed." CP. 105. The request also reminded the agency to disclose the records "as they exist as of the date of the request" not after they are shredded, modified. switched to other formats, highlighted, printed to paper with electronic copy discarded, et cetera. CP. 105. Under a section entitled "Disclose All Records In Whole or Part" - the requestor explained that "to the untrained eye, a record may appear to be identical simply because it has the same "file name" or "title" but it may have been revised numerous times and backed up in electronic form each day, with different information in the metadata... "this request includes all revisions." With regard to the sorts of records that were requested, the request states: "RECORDS as defined by RCW 42.56 are interpreted broadly. Records include but are not limited to files, folders, notes. correspondence, notices, meetings, logs, messages, interviews. cell phone and blackberry text messages and pin messages, deleted email files, emails, Outlook appointment emails and notes, room reservation notices, voice mails, litigation holds, other logs,

other documents, other notes, confidentiality statements, recorded conversations, post-it notes, or other forms of records of an electronic or non-electronic nature. CP. 105-106.

The State Auditor initially responded to the request on December 2, 2011, indicating that the first installment would be available for inspection anytime after December 16, 2011. CP. 108. The response indicated that the remaining records involved "DSHS client records" and due to an agreement with the DSHS, the State Auditor's Office was "unable to anticipate at this time how long DSHS would need to "ensure that all necessary redactions have been made." CP. 108.

THE RESPONSE TO THE REQUEST. On December 21, 2011, the agency transmitted the response to the public records request in the form of three files, downloadable electronically by the Appellant's attorney: "Whistleblower exemption codes.docx" and "10-005_redacted.pdf" (351-pages) and "10-005 ltr VersionHistory.zip" (17 electronic versions of a letter addressed to the Governor and the Secretary of the DSHS). CP. 110.

THE LAWSUIT. The Appellant filed and served the Respondent with a "Complaint for Violations of the Public Records

Act" on December 23, 2011, alleging numerous deficiencies in the State Auditor's disclosure of public records, including failure to cite exemptions and explain them in relation to the redactions, the redaction of non-exempt public information, and failure to disclose some of the requested records and some of the requested metadata. Cp. 11-27, CP. 1362, CP. 102.

WITHOUT IDENTIFYING EXEMPTIONS and BRIEF

EXPLANATION OF HOW THE EXEMPTIONS APPLIED. The

complaint, and a subsequent declaration in support of *in camera*review identified at least 15 records by page number that contained

"black box" redactions of what appeared to be non-exempt material

within the 351-page .pdf file, some covering an entire page. CP.

101. In addition, the Appellant pointed out that "the agency

provided no explanation for the redactions" and only stuck a statute

reference on some of the larger black boxes in the .pdf file. CP.

101. The "Whistleblower exemption codes.docx" that was provided

is a Microsoft Word document, containing a list of statutory

exemptions, but the document was created and last saved in 2010

many months before the public records request was submitted.
 CP. 102.

On December 30, 2011, as a result of the lawsuit, the Respondent sent two files to "replace" two of the earlier disclosures, called "10_005_redacted_2.pdf" and "Whistleblower exemption codes_2.docx." CP. 116. As the trial court noted after conducting in camera review, the "supplemental production" on December 30, 2011, included "exemption codes along with a brief explanation (which brief explanation had not been previously provided by the State)." CP. 172. Then, on February 14, 2012, the same 351-page pdf file was again revised, removing erroneous redactions from multiple records and including new statutory exemptions and codes; the court noted that the documents on pages #27, #40, #137 and #138 of the .pdf file were modified, with the black box removed from the non-exempt portions of the pages: Pages #137 and #138 were revised so only the foster child's name was redacted, with a citation to RCW 13.50.100. CP. 172. The redaction of the postmark on Page 40, an envelope received by the State Auditor, was removed, disclosing the non-exempt "incoming line, date and time and the postmark visible, rather than being

redacted with a black box as had been done in the two earlier productions." CP. 173.

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