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

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. The Auditor Properly Used the Installment Method in Responding to Mr. Hobbs' Records Requests

#### 1. The PRA Expressly Authorizes Production of Responsive Records in Installments.

///

///

---

<sup>10</sup> Between January 20, 2012 and March 29, 2012, while the Auditor continued to produce installments of records to Hobbs, the parties appeared in court seven times to address Hobbs' challenges to the December 21, 2011 installment. Second Amended Statement of Arrangements at 2-3.

The Auditor acted in strict compliance with RCW 42.56.520<sup>11</sup> when it responded to Hobbs within five days and informed him that it would respond to his request with installments of records. The court correctly declined to rule that the Auditor “denied” records based on the manner it redacted the records delivered on December 21, 2011, given that the Auditor continued to prepare records and deliver them to Hobbs through March 29, 2012. CP 187.

A plain reading of two PRA sections supports this result. RCW 42.56.550(1) provides a cause of action to a person “denied” an opportunity to inspect a record. RCW 42.56.080 permits agencies to produce records in installments. Giving effect to RCW 42.56.080, the superior court reasoned that for the period of time it took the Auditor to locate, redact, and produce records in installments, the agency had not “denied” the requester inspection of the records. This interpretation is consistent with the rule that statutes are to be construed so that all parts are given meaning. *G-P Gypsum Corp. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 169 Wn.2d 304, 309, 237 P.3d 256 (2010). Moreover, courts avoid statutory constructions

---

<sup>11</sup> RCW 42.56.520 permits an agency to respond to a request within five business days by “acknowledging that the agency . . . has received the request and providing a reasonable estimate of the time the agency . . . will require to respond to the request[.] . . . Additional time required to respond to a request may be based upon the need to clarify the intent of the request, to locate and assemble the information requested, to notify third persons or agencies affected by the request, or to determine whether any of the information requested is exempt and that a denial should be made as to all or part of the request.”



that yield unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences. *Kilian v. Atkinson*, 147 Wn.2d 16, 21, 50 P.3d 638 (2002). Hobbs' proffered interpretation – that each installment may be the immediate subject of a PRA lawsuit – is a strained and unreasonable interpretation, because it discourages any use of the installment method.

A requestor benefits from an agency providing records as they are available, instead of delaying until all responsive records are accumulated, reviewed, redacted as necessary and then produced. Because the Auditor prepared records in installments, records were available to Hobbs in as little as three weeks. Had the Auditor provided the records in one production, he would not have received any records until March 2012.

In reaching its correct interpretation of the PRA, the superior court followed the supreme court's admonition against "penaliz[ing] agencies that cooperate with PRA litigants," citing *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 849, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). Unlike this case, in *Sanders* the agency had completed its response to a records request, producing certain records and withholding others. 169 Wn.2d at 836. One year later, Sanders filed a PRA lawsuit. After the lawsuit was filed, the agency produced some of the records it had previously withheld. The court refused to hold that the subsequent production made the original withholding of the records a PRA violation. The court reasoned that when an agency updates its initial

production and provides more disclosure, “we [do not] believe that production of documents after the requester files suit ipso facto admits the initial withholding was wrongful”. *Id.* at 849. The Court explained that such a holding would reduce the incentive to produce records and that agencies should be encouraged to cooperate with requesters to increase access to government records. *Id.*

None of the cases relied on by Hobbs (Br. App. at 26-31) involve the fact pattern present in this case: an agency timely notifying the requester that it would provide records in installments, a PRA lawsuit filed immediately after the first installment to contest that installment, the agency refining its production of records as it continued to provide installments, and the agency completing its response within a reasonable time. For instance, Hobbs cites *Soter v. Cowles Publishing*, 162 Wn.2d 716, 754-56, 174 P.3d 60 (2007), to argue that the PRA favors “quick lawsuits.” Br. App. at 36. This passage from *Soter* pertains to a lawsuit initiated by an agency in an attempt to avoid PRA liability where the agency has decided to claim an exemption.<sup>12</sup> *Soter* provides no support for a “quick lawsuit” challenging the adequacy of an agency’s response when

---

<sup>12</sup> In *Soter*, after the agency finished compiling responsive records, it did not produce them; instead, it notified a third party and then together with the third party filed a lawsuit seeking a declaration that the records were exempt. 162 Wn.2d at 727-28. The court held the records were exempt. *Id.* at 749.

the agency is fully and expeditiously engaged in the process of responding, and has kept the requester well-apprised of its progress.

The Auditor does not, as Hobbs argues, attempt to shift the burden of compliance onto the requester.<sup>13</sup> It simply means agencies have the opportunity in installment production to review previous installments to address concerns expressed by a requester, or – as also happened here – to identify, on the agency’s own initiative, ways to improve previous productions. *See* CP 293, 303.

**2. Production of Records in Installments Promotes the Policies of the PRA.**

Strong policy reasons exist for the PRA’s authorization for production of records in installments. It encourages PRA requesters to communicate with agencies instead of involving the superior courts and promotes faster and more efficient responses to requests. Consistent with the mandate to provide the “fullest assistance” to requesters, RCW 42.56.100, the Auditor invited Hobbs’ questions and concerns (CP 121-22, 269, 301), and quickly responded to them, resolving technical glitches not only when Hobbs identified them, but on its own initiative when it noticed them. CP 293, 303. The PRA should not be construed as Hobbs would have it, *i.e.*, that requesters who do not raise questions or issues to or

---

<sup>13</sup> Br. App. at 17, citing CP 1342, which is not legal authority but a declaration filed by Hobbs’ counsel stating his own opinion.

confer with an agency to assist the agency while it is fulfilling the request may claim the agency has denied a record before the agency has completed its response.

To serve the policy of the PRA, agencies should be encouraged to search for, redact if necessary, and provide records as soon as the agency is able. *See* RCW 42.56.080 (agencies shall make public records “promptly available”). An agency that quickly provides partial records in an early installment serves that purpose, where it knows that additional information can be produced in a later installment once the records have been fully processed. If agencies are penalized in such a situation, as Hobbs argues for, a prudent agency will wait until the records are fully processed before producing them, thus reducing responsiveness rather than encouraging it.

This Court should reject Hobbs’ argument (Br. App. at 30) that it is “fortunate” for agencies when requesters rush to the courthouse to file a lawsuit while the agency is in the process of providing installments. It is not “fortunate” for the agency that must defend a premature lawsuit claiming a denial of a PRA request before the agency has had a reasonable opportunity to complete its response to a request. Here, notwithstanding Hobbs’ rush to court, the Auditor continued to produce installments through March 29, 2012. Under these circumstances, the superior court

correctly concluded Hobbs was not “denied” the “opportunity to inspect records” within the meaning of RCW 42.56.550(1) on December 21, 2011. This Court should affirm.

**B. The Auditor’s Brief Explanations of Its Redactions Satisfy PRA Requirements**

RCW 42.56.210(3) requires that agencies provide a “brief explanation of how the exemption applies to the records withheld.” The superior court correctly ruled that this requirement was satisfied by the Auditor’s system for providing brief explanations, which used a series of numbered “exemption” codes that correlate each redaction to a specific brief explanation.

The court’s ruling is well supported by the case law interpreting RCW 42.56.210(3). In *Sanders*, for example, the agency claimed information was exempt as either attorney client privileged or work product and provided the record’s author, recipient, date, and broad subject matter. However, because the agency index was “devoid of any explanation” of how the claimed exemption applied to the record, there was a “failure to explain” the claimed exemption. 169 Wn.2d at 845-46.

In *Rental Housing Ass’n of Puget Sound v. Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009), the court held that the PRA requires agencies to provide sufficient explanation to inform a citizen and a

reviewing court 1) what individual records are being withheld; 2) which exemptions are being claimed for individual records; and 3) whether there is a valid basis for a claimed exemption. 165.Wn.2d at 540.

Here, unlike the agencies in *Sanders* and *Rental Housing*, the Auditor's codes provided a brief explanation why each redaction was made and referenced the statutory exemption authorizing the redaction. CP 287-88. Each code applies to a specific type of information that is exempted from production under the PRA. Superimposing the appropriate code on the "blacked out" redaction allows the requester to quickly refer to the explanation and statutory authority for each redaction on an accompanying explanatory list.

The Auditor's codes sufficiently explain the redacted material and why the cited exemption applies. For example, codes [1], [2], and [3] refer to a statutory exemption – RCW 42.40.040(2)<sup>14</sup> – and explain how that statute exempts the redacted information, by stating three different ways the redacted information would reveal the identity of the whistleblower:

[1] Whistleblower name, contact information (e.g. phone number, address, email address), position and/or agency name that would reveal the identity of a whistleblower.

---

<sup>14</sup> RCW 42.40.040(2) states: "[t]he identity or identifying characteristics of a whistleblower is confidential at all times ... In addition, the identity or identifying characteristics of any person who in good faith provides information in an investigation under this section is confidential at all times..."

[2] Information in the description of events related to the alleged improper governmental action that is specific enough to reveal the identity of a whistleblower.

[3] Information provided by the whistleblower relating to the location of evidence that is specific enough to reveal the identity of a whistleblower.

CP 287. These codes briefly describe the type of information that has been redacted, and provide the requester and any reviewing court a basis for understanding the reason why the redacted information would be exempt.<sup>15</sup> Similarly, codes [9] through [19] are specific to different types of information redacted from the DSHS foster child records. CP 287-88.

Hobbs claims the Auditor's exemption list is "generic" and was created in 2010. Br. App. at 1. Even if the claim were true, he cites no authority that interprets the PRA to mandate that the "brief" explanation be more detailed or specific than those provided by the Auditor. Neither the PRA nor case law prohibits an agency from preparing descriptions of specific types of exempt information that occur repetitively in its records to make the public disclosure process more efficient when those records are requested. The test under *Sanders* and *Rental Housing, supra*, is

---

<sup>15</sup> As noted above, only exemption codes [1], [2], and [9] were used in the first installment, the only installment Hobbs challenged below. The superior court ruled that the explanations for those codes were statutorily sufficient and that this type of coding system is an acceptable means of providing the required brief explanations. CP 138-40, 185-90.

whether the agency has provided a brief explanation for each redaction. The Auditor's codes do just that.

Hobbs fails to explain why he thinks using such a list shifts any burden to the requester. Br. App. at 34. This method for explaining redactions is not confusing; the requester need only refer to the code numbers actually used, and may disregard any other codes. When, as here, the production of records requires hundreds of redactions to isolated words or sentences, this approach allows the Auditor to more quickly process and produce records, while providing the statutorily required brief explanation for each redaction.

Finally, Hobbs may be arguing that an agency must produce an exemption log with the records produced. *Compare* Br. App. at 4 *with* Br. App. at 28. While an exemption log is one means of complying with RCW 42.56.210(3), it is not the only means. The court in *Rental Housing*, 165 Wn.2d. at 539, referred to a privilege log as an "illustration of compliance," and approvingly cited WAC 44-14-04004(4)(b)(ii) which states, in part, that "[o]ne way to properly provide a brief explanation of the ... redaction is for the agency to provide a withholding index..." (emphasis added).<sup>16</sup> A requirement to provide a log listing all records and to draft unique explanations for each redaction is unnecessary to explain

---

<sup>16</sup> Hobbs tacitly acknowledges that a log is not mandated when he states a log is just "one" method to explain exemptions (Br. App. at 28).



redactions. It would slow down production of records in the circumstances present in this case, and therefore would not serve the purposes of the PRA.

**C. The Superior Court Correctly Ruled the Auditor's First Installment, as Updated in Later Installments, Fully Complied with PRA Requirements**

At the superior court, Hobbs challenged the redactions made to only one part of one installment, the 351-page investigation file produced on December 21, 2011. Based on its interpretation of the statutorily authorized installment method, the superior court did not limit its review to that installment. Rather, as set forth in section III.B.1. *supra*, the superior court's *in camera* review also considered and ultimately ruled on, installments produced on December 30, 2011, February 14, 2012, and February 27, 2012, which corrected technical glitches and provided better explanations and narrower redactions than the December 21, 2011, installment. This Court should affirm.

**1. Redactions to the 351-page Investigation File Were Supported by Valid Exemptions from Disclosure.**

The Auditor superimposed hundreds of "black boxes" on its 351-page investigation file, redacting small amounts of text. Starting with the December 30, 2011, installment, each redaction in this record was superimposed with a code number. CP 277; Exhibit A. These numbers

corresponded to brief explanations provided in the Auditor's list of exemption codes. CP 278. After reviewing *in camera* unredacted and redacted versions of this record, the superior court found no redaction errors that would violate the PRA. CP 187-88.

The Auditor prepared this record precisely the way courts have directed – it redacted small amounts of information from individual documents. *See Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Authority* 177 Wn.2d 417, 433, 437, 300 P.3d 376 (2013) (when an exemption applies only to certain information, an agency should redact exempt information; thereafter “some modicum of information remains”).

Hobbs assigns error to the superior court's finding that the redactions to the 351-page investigation file were consistent with the PRA (CP 188), but he makes only two unsupported and limited arguments to support that assignment. Assignments of error must be supported by argument, or they are waived. *Guardianship of Lamb*, 173 Wn.2d 173, 183 n.8, 265 P.3d 876 (2011). First, Hobbs argues the superior court did not consider all pages he identified in his request. Br. App. at 16. But the lower court stated it reviewed all documents submitted for *in camera* review. CP 172. The superior court reviewed all of Hobbs' citations and argument, but disagreed with him.

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